IMMEDIATE EFFECTS OF EXTERNAL VS. INTERNAL FOCUS OF ATTENTION FEEDBACK ON LANDING BIOMECHANICS AND FUNCTIONAL PERFORMANCE IN INDIVIDUALS AFTER ANTERIOR CRUCIATE LIGAMENT RECONSTRUCTION

by

Sean Krysak

A thesis submitted to the faculty of The University of North Carolina at Charlotte in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Kinesiology

Charlotte

2019

Approved by:

Abbey Thomas Fenwick

Luke Donovan

Tricia Turner

©2019 Sean Krysak ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

SEAN KRYSAK. Immediate Effects of vs. Internal focus of attention feedback on landing biomechanics and Functional performance in individuals after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. (Under the direction of ABBEY THOMAS FENWICK)

Introduction: More than 150,000 people each year undergo anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstruction (ACLR) and associated rehabilitation in hopes of restoring knee joint stability and returning to sport. However, 25% of these individuals will go on to sustain a second ACL injury. The incidence rate of a second ACL injury is as high as 15 times that of someone who has never had an ACL tear. Postoperative rehabilitation is instrumental in the return to pre-injury strength, gait and functional performance. However, rehabilitation does not improve biomechanics, likely due to its reliance on an internal focus of attention. Both internal and external feedback methods are currently used to help patients return to sport, however implementation of the most effective feedback technique may be successful in lowering the rate of secondary injuries.

Objective: To quantify differences in biomechanics and functional performance following a single session of external focus of attention (ExFOCUS) versus internal focus of attention (InFOCUS) feedback in individuals after ACL-R compared to controls.

Methods: Ten adults were recruited to participate in this study (healthy n=3; ACL-R n=7). All participants completed two testing sessions separated by a minimum of 1 week. InFOCUS feedback cues were given during the first session while and ExFOCUS cues were given during the second. This order was chosen due to the potential of ExFOCUS to change biomechanics long-term. Biomechanics were quantified during a both a single-leg step down and jump-landing tasks using 3D motion capture Participants

were outfitted with 36 retroreflective markers that were tracked via a 10 camera (200Hz) motion-capture system (MX-T40S; Vicon, Oxford, UK). A static recording was captured to generate a kinematic model in Visual3D (C-Motion, Inc. Germantown, MD, USA). Joint rotations were calculated in Visual3D using a Cardan rotation sequence and expressed relative to each participant's static trial. Three-dimensional ground reaction force data were collected synchronously with the kinematic data from two Bertec (Bertec, Columbus, OH, USA) non-conductive force platforms (1000Hz). Kinetic data were smoothed using a 4th order zero lag low pass Butterworth filter with a cutoff frequency of 12 Hz and processed using a standard inverse dynamics approach. Joint moments were normalized to participant body mass and height (Nm/kg*m) and presented as external moments. All biomechanical data were time normalized to 100% of the stance phase (initial contact to toe-off), with initial contact and toe-off representing the instants when the vertical ground reaction force (vGRF) first exceeded or fell below 10N, respectively. Independent variables for analysis were group (ACL-R, control), limb (involved, uninvolved or matched in contralateral in the control group), and condition (ExFOCUS, InFOCUS). All data were assessed for normality prior to analysis. For all aims, change scores (pre – post) were calculated for all biomechanical and functional performance variables. Next, a series of 2x2x2 repeated measures ANOVAs were conducted to identify group x condition x limb differences in knee biomechanics and functional performance. Alpha was set a priori at P<0.05 for all analyses. Post hoc testing was performed using one-way ANOVAs and t-tests in the event of significant interactions. Statistical analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS (v26, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA).

Results: During single-leg step downs there was a significant limb by condition interaction for sagittal plane hip rotation (P=0.023). However, neither the limb (P=0.855) nor the condition (P=0.647) main effects were statistically significant for either variable. Changes in hip frontal, knee sagittal or frontal plane rotations, and hip and knee sagittal and frontal plane moments were not statistically different between groups, limbs, or conditions during the single-leg step downs.

Drop vertical jump did not show significant changes in hip nor knee sagittal and frontal plane angles between groups, limbs, or conditions. However, there was a significant limb by group interaction for frontal plane knee moment (P=0.027) and peak vGRF (P=0.044) during drop vertical jumps. Though, neither the limb (P=0.142) nor the group (P=0.792) was statistically significant for either variable. There was a significant main effect of condition for hip frontal plane torque (P=0.025). Specifically, participants demonstrated a greater increase in external hip abduction moment from pre- to posttesting in the InFOCUS compared to the ExFOCUS session. There was a significant main effect of condition for vGRF (P=0.041), with the differences from baseline being greater during the ExFOCUS than the InFOCUS session.

Finally, the triple hop for distance test demonstrated a significant group main effect (P=0.016) such that the control group demonstrated greater changes in triple hop distance from baseline compared to the ACL-R group regardless of limb or condition.

Conclusions: This preliminary investigation suggests that a single session of InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training is not sufficient to alter lower extremity biomechanics or functional performance in patients after ACL-R or healthy adults. To effectively reduce the risk of ACL injury, this intervention may need to last longer than a single session. Strategies to reduce injury risk among patients after ACL-R are necessary; therefore, future studies should have participants preform multiple sessions of each condition so that it can be observed whether or not changes occur.

DEDICATION

To my wife Abbey, without whom none of this would be possible. Thank you for your support, inspiration and patience throughout this process. To my parents, for always believing in me, encouraging me and loving me. You taught me to work hard and believe in myself and that I could accomplish anything.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to thank Dr. Abbey Thomas for her encouragement and seemingly inexhaustible patience throughout this journey. I truly appreciate all of the support and advise you gave me throughout this process. This project would not have been possible without your guidance. I would also like to thank Dr. Tricia Turner and Dr. Luke Donovan for all of their help and support as my thesis committee. Lastly, I would like to thank all members of the Biodynamics Laboratory for supporting me throughout this process, you are great colleagues and friends and were always willing to lend a hand when I needed it.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF TABLES |
|--|
| LIST OF FIGURES xii |
| CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1 |
| CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE 6 |
| 2.1 Anatomy and Biomechanics of the Knee |
| 2.2 Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries and Reconstruction |
| 2.3 Rehabilitation |
| 2.4 Internal and External Focus of Attention |
| 2.5 Conclusion |
| CHAPTER 3: METHODS 14 |
| 3.1 Study Design |
| 3.2 Participants |
| 3.3 Procedures |
| 3.4 Biomechanics |
| 3.5 Functional Performance |
| 3.6 Feedback 17 |
| 3.7 Statistical Analysis |
| CHAPTER 4: RESULTS |
| 4.1 Single-Leg Step Down Kinematic Data |
| 4.2 Single-Leg Step Down Kinetics |
| 4.3 Drop Vertical Jump Kinematic Data |

| 4.4 Drop Vertical Jump Kinetics | 30 |
|---|----|
| 4.3 Functional Performance Data | |
| | |
| CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION | 40 |
| 5.1 Single Leg Step Down Kinematic Data | 40 |
| 5.2 Single Leg Step Down Kinetic Data | 40 |
| 5.3 Drop Vertical Jump Kinematic Data | 41 |
| 5.4 Drop Vertical Jump Kinetic Data | |
| 5.5 Functional Performance | 43 |
| 5.6 Limitations | 44 |
| 5.7 Conclusion | 44 |
| REFERENCES | 45 |
| APPENDIX A: Patient reported outcomes | 50 |
| APPENDIX B: effect size data | 53 |

LIST OF TABLES

| TABLE 1. Participant demographic data presented as mean ± standard deviation unless otherwise noted. 20 |
|--|
| TABLE 2. Pre- and post-intervention kinematic data for single limb step down are presented as mean ± standard deviation |
| TABLE 3. Pre- and post-intervention kinetic data for single limb step down are presented as mean ± standard deviation. 26 |
| TABLE 4. Pre- and post-intervention data for kinematic data for drop vertical jump are presented as mean ± standard deviation |
| TABLE 5. Pre- and post-intervention data for kinetic data for drop vertical jump are presented as mean ± standard deviation |
| TABLE 6. Pre- and post-intervention data for functional hop tests. Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation. 36 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| FIGURE1. Feedback via InFOCUS |
|--|
| FIGURE 2. Feedback via ExFOCUS 18 |
| FIGURE 3. Average hip sagittal plane rotation during SL step down for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold |
| FIGURE 4. Average hip frontal plane rotation during SL step down for each group 22 |
| FIGURE 5. Average knee sagittal plane rotation during SL step down for each group 23 |
| FIGURE 6. Average knee frontal plane rotation during SL step down for each group 23 |
| FIGURE 7. Average hip sagittal plane moment during SL step down for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold |
| FIGURE 8. Average hip frontal plane moment during SL step down for each group 24 |
| FIGURE 9. Average knee sagittal plane moment during SL step down for each group 25 |
| FIGURE 10. Average knee frontal plane moment during SL step down for each group. 25 |
| FIGURE 11. Average hip sagittal plane rotation during DVJ for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold. |
| FIGURE 12. Average hip frontal plane rotation during DVJ for each group |
| FIGURE 13. Average knee sagittal plane rotation during DVJ for each group |
| FIGURE 14. Average knee frontal plane rotation during DVJ for each group 29 |
| FIGURE 15. Average hip sagittal plane moment during DVJ for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold. |

| FIGURE 16. Average hip frontal plane moment during DVJ for each group |
|---|
| FIGURE 17. Average knee sagittal plane moment during DVJ for each group |
| FIGURE 18. Average knee frontal plane moment during DVJ for each group |
| FIGURE 19. Average vertical ground reaction force during DVJ for each group |
| FIGURE 20. Average normalized single limb hop distance for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold. |
| FIGURE 21. Average normalized crossover hop distance for each group |
| FIGURE 22. Average normalized triple hop distance for each group |
| FIGURE 23. Average 6m hop time for each group |
| FIGURE 24. Average vertical jump height for each group |

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injuries are highly prevalent in the United States, with more than 250,000 occurring per year.¹ Of those injured approximately 150,000 elect to undergo anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction (ACLR) surgery. Each procedure and its accompanying rehabilitation carry an average cost of \$17,000, which results in approximately \$2.55 billion spent annually on ACLRs.² Despite the high cost associated with ACL injury and subsequent reconstruction, the outcomes may be less than optimal as the residual effects can be life changing. Regardless of treatment approach, by the 3rd decade after surgery, approximately 50% of individuals have osteoarthritis. This suggests that current techniques are not efficient for decreasing longterm posttraumatic osteoarthritis development.³

Subsequent to ACLR, the chances of having a second ACL injury can rise as much as 15 times compared to that of someone who has not previously been injured.⁴ These second ACL injuries can occur to the ipsilateral or contralateral knee and it has been suggested that the same poor biomechanics (i.e., dynamic knee valgus, decreased hip flexion, and peak external knee flexion moment)⁵ that cause primary ACL injury also cause second ACL injury. The high rate of subsequent injury and similar injury mechanisms add further evidence that current interventions do not adequately improve biomechanics and that current treatment strategies need to be optimized to improve long-term outcomes in these patients.

Post-operative rehabilitation is typically a lengthy process, targeting muscular strength, gait mechanics and functional performance. Interventions are focused on both short- and long-term outcomes and look to use the most efficient and effective techniques

1

to return patients to pre-injury functionality and limit re-injury or adverse long-term effects. Cues and varied foci of attention used during the rehabilitation of patients after ACLR may have a significant effect on outcome and re-injury risk and further investigation of these techniques may be necessary to improve outcomes following ACLR.⁶

Internal focus of attention (InFOCUS) is said to occur if the patient's attention is directed to his or her body movements. Examples of internally directed focus of attention may include cues for the patients to bend at the waist or to land with feet shoulder width apart while observing themselves in a mirror. It has been reported that clinicians provide cues inducing InFOCUS 95% of the time.⁷ Though extremely common, recent research has shown that InFOCUS may be detrimental to certain physical movements. By breaking down the movement instructions into individual components the patient may see a reduction in movement automaticity.⁸

External focus of attention (ExFOCUS) is an alternative to InFOCUS and is directed to the effect of the movement (i.e. the ball going into the goal or the hand touching the wall) which promotes the use of unconscious or automatic mechanisms, allowing the motor system to more naturally self-organize,⁹ and may improve motor learning efficacy.⁶ Using external cues and goals such as cones, targets, or markers may allow individuals to direct focus externally to increase quality of movement. ExFOCUS training has been shown to improve biomechanics during single-leg hopping in patients after ACLR.¹⁰ Specifically, significantly larger knee flexion angles at initial contact, peak knee flexion, total range of motion and time to peak knee flexion were observed. While this study produced some pertinent data, it was only looking at a singular task and the

cues were only verbal. Understanding how ExFOCUS feedback improves biomechanics during more sport-specific tasks and under alternative cueing conditions is vital to further improving post-operative rehabilitation.

Despite advances in ACLR rehabilitation practices the re-injury rate is still distressingly high and residual complications persist after completion of rehabilitation in a large percentage of patients. The purpose of this study is to determine efficacy of a novel form of ExFOCUS feedback compared to standard of care InFOCUS feedback at improving biomechanics of patients post-ACLR as well as in healthy individuals. It is our goal to further previous research that has shown ExFOCUS to be a superior feedback method when working with patients rehabilitating post-ACLR.

Specific Aim 1: To determine if a single ExFOCUS intervention can improve biomechanics compared to InFOCUS in patients after ACLR and healthy controls. Hypothesis 1.1: Patients will demonstrate greater increases in knee flexion and decreases in knee abduction angle during step down and jump-landing following external versus internal focus of attention feedback.

Hypothesis 1.2: Patients will demonstrate greater increases in external knee flexion moment with concurrent decreases in knee abduction moment and peak vertical ground reaction force during stepping down and landing following external compared to internal focus of attention feedback.

Hypothesis 1.3: While all participants will improve biomechanics after ExFOCUS training, patients after ACLR will demonstrate greater improvements in biomechanics than healthy controls.

Specific Aim 2: To determine if a single ExFOCUS intervention can improve functional performance compared to InFOCUS in patients after ACLR.

Hypothesis 2.1: Following ExFOCUS training, patients will increase their singleleg (SL) hop, triple hop, and crossover hop distance and decrease their 6m timed hop time compared to InFOCUS training. Additionally, patients will increase their jump height on a vertical jump test following external versus internal focus of attention feedback training.

Hypothesis 2.2: While all participants will improve their functional performance following ExFOCUS training, patients in the ACLR group will demonstrate greater improvements than healthy controls.

Exploratory Aim 3: To determine if there is a limb-to-limb difference in biomechanical and functional performance improvements following unilateral training in patients post-ACLR after both types of feedback interventions.

Hypothesis 3.1: Patients will demonstrate greater contralateral limb improvements in biomechanics and functional performance following unilateral training utilizing external versus internal focus of attention feedback.

Delimitations: Patients were recruited from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte and surrounding community. Therefore, patients were treated by a variety of different surgeons using different graft types and following multiple rehabilitation protocols. While this variety increases generalizability of our findings, it may also influence our outcomes. Therefore, graft type was collected, as were concomitant surgical procedures, for use in data analysis as necessary. Additionally, this is a single intervention session and it is not possible to discern whether the effects of the different focus of attention are long term or repeatable. However, determining the single-session benefits of the intervention is an important step in designing a long-term training study.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

The purpose of this literature review is to detail: 1) knee joint anatomy and biomechanics, 2) anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction, 3) the rehabilitative process, including: testing for return to sport and leg symmetry and 4) Internal and External Focus of Attention.

2.1 Anatomy and Biomechanics of the Knee

The knee is one of the largest joints of the human body. It is a complex structure that allows flexion and rotation yet provides stability and support while under great stress. The knee is made up of bones, ligaments, tendons and muscles, all contributing to its function. The bony architecture of the knee joint complex consists of four bones, the femur, tibia, fibula and patella. The knee can be subdivided into two distinct articulations, the tibiofemoral and the patellofemoral joints. The patellofemoral is central to knee function through its role in the extensor mechanism. The patella increases the moment arm of the knee extensors, thereby increasing mechanical advantage of the quadriceps to extend the lower leg. The tibiofemoral joint is composed of two condyloid articulations.¹¹ The medial and lateral menisci enhance the conformity of the tibiofemoral joint, as well as to assist with rotation of the knee.

The muscles that directly contribute to the functions of the knee include the quadriceps, hamstrings, and muscles of the calf. The quadriceps (rectus femoris, vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, and vastus intermedius) extend the leg at the knee. Rectus femoris originates from the anterior inferior iliac spine and aligns with the base of patella to form the more central portion of the quadriceps femoris tendon. Vastus intermedius emanates from the upper two-thirds of the anterior and lateral surfaces of the femur. It

descends and unites with the deep surface of rectus femoris, vastus lateralis and vastus medialis forming the deep part of the quadriceps tendon.

Vastus medialis originates along the length of the linea aspera of the femur and inserts along the medial base and border of patella. Vastus lateralis originates in the anterior and inferior borders of greater trochanter and lateral portion of gluteal tuberosity of femur. Its insertion in the lateral base of patella forms the lateral patellar retinaculum and lateral side of quadriceps femoris tendon. Due to their role in extending the knee, the quadriceps are considered antagonistic to the ACL. Contraction of the hamstring (semimembranosus, semitendinosus and biceps femoris), muscles will cause flexion of the leg at the knee. The biceps femoris originates on the ischial tuberosity and linea aspera of the femur and inserts on the head of the fibula and the lateral condyle of the tibia. Semimembranosus and semitendinosus both originate on the ischial tuberosity. Semitendinosus inserts at the proximal, medial surface of the tibia while semimembranosus inserts at the posterior surface of the medial condyle of the tibia. The hamstrings help protect the ACL by flexing the knee and counteracting the quadriceps.

Four main ligaments connect the femur to the tibia and provide passive stabilization to the knee joint. The posterior cruciate ligament (PCL) extends anteromedially from the tibia posterior to the medial femoral condyle. This ligament prevents excessive posterior movement of the tibia on the femur. Lateral collateral ligament (LCL) extends from the lateral femoral epicondyle to the head of the fibula and prevents excessive adduction of the knee. Medial collateral ligament (MCL) extends from the medial femoral epicondyle to the tibia, it prevents excessive abduction of the knee. The anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) runs posterolaterally from the tibia and inserts on the lateral femoral condyle. The ACL prevents excessive anterior movement of the tibia under the femur and assists in providing rotational stability to the knee. The ACL consists of two major fiber bundles, namely the anteromedial and posterolateral bundle,¹² that work in unison with one another. When the knee is extended, the posterolateral bundle (PLB) is taught and the anteromedial bundle (AMB) is reasonably lax.¹³ Thus, the PLB provides more resistance to anterior tibial translation when the knee is extended. As the knee is flexed, the femoral attachment of the ACL becomes more horizontal, causing the AMB to tighten and the PLB to relax, allowing for a greater contribution from the AMB to joint stability in these more flexed knee positions.^{13 14 15} In addition to limiting anterior translation of the tibia, the ACL aids in the limitation of medial rotation about the knee joint, with the majority of this coming from the PLB.¹⁶

2.2 Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries and Reconstruction

ACL injuries are amongst the most common injuries sustained in an athletic population, with over 250,000 occurring in the United States each year.¹ Athletic ACL injuries occur most often during sports that require rapid deceleration or the instantaneous change of directional forces. Basketball, football and soccer are just a few of the sports that see high rates of ACL injuries amongst their athletes.¹⁷ As more and more individuals participate in these activities, the rate of ACL injuries is likely to rise. Research has shown that ACL injuries occur with a 4- to 6-fold greater incidence in female athletes compared with male athletes playing the same landing and cutting sports.¹⁸ These injuries are particularly concerning because they can lead to a premature retirement from sports participation and early onset osteoarthritis, leading to long-term disability and physical inactivity and their associated comorbidities (i.e., obesity, heart disease, etc.).

Like all ligament sprains, ACL injuries can be divided into three levels of severity: Grades I, II or III. An injury is diagnosed as Grade I if the ligament is mildly damaged, a few fibers may be torn. The ligament has been slightly stretched and may be loosened but is still able to help keep the knee joint stable. More severe is the Grade II sprain, wherein a large number of fibers are torn. This may also be referred to as a partial tear. The ligament stretches to the point that it becomes loose and a partial thickness tear is observed. The most severe is a Grade III sprain or a complete tear of the ligament. This results in an unstable knee joint.

Regardless of injury severity, all patients have the option to remain ACL deficient or have the ligament surgically reconstructed. A determining factor in an athlete's choice to undergo ACLR is his/her desire to return to sport (RTS). Though an athlete can elect to forgo surgery, chances of gaining full functionality without it are very limited. Recent studies report that conservative treatments lead to instability issues as patients RTS.¹⁹ Thus, over half of patients opt for surgical reconstruction.

ACLR can be performed with use of either allograft or autograft tissue. Allografts involve harvesting the tissue of a donor, usually a cadaver, in order to reconstruct the ACL. Allograft use presents some concerning factors: slower incorporation, inadequate ligamentization, and possible immunogenicity.²⁰⁻²² Moreover the odds of graft rupture with an allograft reconstruction are 4 times higher than those of autograft reconstructions.²³ Despite these concerns, allograft use has seen an increase in the last decade perhaps due to a decrease in post-operative pain, easier early rehabilitation and

shorter operating times.²³⁻²⁵ However, autograft ACLR, removing tissue from the person's own body to use for reconstruction, remains the gold standard. The most commonly harvested sites for ACLR are the bone–patellar tendon–bone (BPTB) and quadrupled hamstring tendon.^{26,27}

Subsequent to ACLR, the chances of having a second ACL injury, defined as ACL injury to the ipsilateral or contralateral limbs, can rise as much as 15 times that of someone who has not previously been injured.⁴ The data predicting an athlete's chance of a second ACL injury may actually be askew as not all return to sport. Though activity level is not a statistically significant factor for the risk of second ACL injuries, research has shown that competitive-level activity increases the risk by 36% compared to recreational activity.²⁸

The cost of initial ACLRs, including diagnosis, surgery and rehabilitation, is approximately \$17,000, with a total annual cost of approximately \$2.5 billion in the United States.²⁹ A second injury sees the cost rise by an average of more than \$1,200.² Despite the high cost associated with ACLR the outcomes may be less than optimal as the residual effects can be life changing. As previously mentioned, patients after ACLR also see an exceptional increase in the likelihood of a future ACL injury. Electing to have the surgery is, however, only the first step in RTS; the next step is the rehabilitation of the injury.

2.3 Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation typically lasts six months post-operatively, with patients expected to be cleared to resume full activity by 12 months following surgery.³⁰ Early emphasis is placed on gait training and mobilization of the knee joint as extended immobilization has

negative effects on the structures surrounding the knee and may increase pain.³¹ Next, patients progress to full weight bearing and closed kinetic chain exercise by the third week post operation. Beyond this time point, emphasis continues to be placed on restoring muscle strength, neuromuscular control, and cardiovascular endurance (approximate time frame: 4-10 weeks post-operatively). Once the graft has adequately strengthened (around 11-12 weeks post-operatively), advanced strength training, plyometric, and agility exercises begin. Finally, by the fifth post-operative month, patients perform sport-specific exercise in final preparation for return to full activity.

There are multiple roadblocks to successful return to previous activity level following ACLR. Impaired muscle strength which leads to altered lower extremity biomechanics has been observed while comparing patients with ACL injuries to uninjured controls.³² In a recent study, Goerger et al.³² examined dominant limb biomechanics in a group of persons both pre-ACL injury and post-ACLR. Their findings indicated that injury and subsequent ACLR resulted in altered movement patterns in both the injured and uninjured limbs. This suggests the need to reevaluate current rehabilitation protocols in order to more optimally restore lower extremity biomechanics.⁶

Noyes et al.³³ hypothesized that approximately one-third of athletes that undergo ACLR are able to resume pre-injury activity levels, one-third compensate for the deficiency by modifying some sports activities and one-third have to cease many sports activities due to reduced knee function. With two thirds of athletes unable to return to pre-injury levels of activity, it is apparent that current rehabilitation protocols are not

11

adequately restoring stability, strength, and biomechanics to a level that prepares patients to return to full activity.

2.4 Internal and External Focus of Attention

Shifting rehabilitation from relying on an internal to an ExFOCUS during functional movement may have large impacts on movement patterns and post-operative outcomes. InFOCUS is said to occur if the individual's attention is directed to his or her body movements. This is often accomplished by having the patient perform exercises in front of a mirror and providing cues to land with flexed knees or to land with feet together, for example. Rehabilitation professionals provide cues inducing InFOCUS 95% of the time.⁷ Though prevalent, recent research has shown that InFOCUS may be less suitable for acquisition and retention of control of complex motor skills required for sport reintegration.⁷ This conundrum may be a consequence of the Constrained Action Hypothesis. The Constrained Action Hypothesis suggests that performers utilizing an InFOCUS may constrain or interfere with movements that would otherwise be controlled by the body's natural mechanics, whereas an ExFOCUS allows the motor system to more naturally self-organize.⁹

ExFOCUS is directed to the environment (i.e. the ball going into the goal or the hand touching the wall) which promotes the use of unconscious or automatic mechanisms and may improve motor learning efficacy.⁶ Using external cues and goals such as cones, targets, or markers may allow people to direct focus externally to increase quality of movement. Improvements in movement mechanics were found during single leg hopping in ACLR subjects using ExFOCUS versus InFOCUS.¹⁰ While this study produced some pertinent data it was only looking at a singular task and the cues were only verbal.

Moving forward it will be important to find out if this phenomenon is transferable to multiple tasks and with multiple ways of receiving cues (verbal/visual). An externally focused rehabilitation strategy may enhance skill acquisition more efficiently and increase the potential to transfer to competitive sport.⁷

2.5 Conclusion

ACL injuries occur at a high rate and carry with them a host of long-term consequences ranging from second ACL injury to osteoarthritis development. Current post-operative rehabilitation techniques do not adequately protect against these future sequelae. Therefore, research is needed to optimize rehabilitation and improve long-term outcomes. This thesis project represents one important step in improving patient outcomes by examining if ExFOCUS of attention feedback can improve biomechanics and provide patients are more ideal movement strategy for RTS following ACLR.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS

3.1 Study Design

This was a preliminary cross-sectional study designed to quantify differences in biomechanics and functional performance following a single session of ExFOCUS versus InFOCUS feedback in individuals after ACLR compared to controls.

3.2 Participants

Ten adults ranging (n=7 ACLR; n=3 healthy) were recruited from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte and the surrounding community. Healthy participants were sex, age, body mass index (BMI), and activity level matched to the ACLR group. All participants were 18-35 years of age, had a BMI \leq 35kg/m² and were free from: 1) history of lower extremity fracture or ankle sprains; 2) lower extremity injury within the past three months from which they are still experiencing symptoms; and 3) any injury or illness that precludes safe participation in exercise. Participants in the ACLR group had to have: 1) undergone a primary, unilateral ACLR within the previous 6-24 months as deficits normalize after 2 years;³⁴ and 2) received clearance from a physician for return to full activity. All experimental methods were approved by the University's Institutional Review Board. All participants read and provided informed consent.

3.3 Procedures

All participants completed two testing sessions separated by a minimum of 1 week. InFOCUS was completed prior to ExFOCUS due to the potential of ExFOCUS to change biomechanics long-term. Biomechanics and functional performance were assessed bilaterally prior to and following each feedback session. The uninvolved limb was tested prior to the involved limb.

3.4 Biomechanics

Biomechanics were quantified during both a single-leg (SL) step down and jumplanding tasks using 3D motion capture. Participants were outfitted with 36 retroreflective markers placed over the spinous process of C7, the sternum, and bilaterally over the following anatomical landmarks: acromioclavicluar joint, anterior superior iliac spine, iliac crest, posterior superior iliac spine, greater trochanter, distal thigh, lateral and medial femoral epicondyles, tibial tuberosity, lateral shank, distal shank, lateral and medial malleoli, head of the 2nd metatarsal, base of the 5th metatarsal, dorsal navicular, and calcaneus. Markers were tracked via a 10 camera (200Hz) motion-capture system (MX-T40S; Vicon, Oxford, UK). A static recording was captured to generate a kinematic model in Visual3D (C-Motion, Inc. Germantown, MD, USA). Joint rotations were calculated in Visual3D using a Cardan rotation sequence and expressed relative to each participant's static trial. Three-dimensional ground reaction force data were collected synchronously with the kinematic data from two Bertec (Bertec, Columbus, OH, USA) non-conductive force platforms (1000Hz). Kinetic data were smoothed using a 4th order zero lag low pass Butterworth filter with a cutoff frequency of 12 Hz and processed using a standard inverse dynamics approach. Joint moments were normalized to participant body mass and height (Nm/kg*m) and presented as external moments. All biomechanical data were time normalized to 100% of the stance phase (initial contact to toe-off), with initial contact and toe-off representing the instants when the vertical ground reaction force (vGRF) first exceeded or fell below 10N, respectively.³⁵ Data were extracted at the instant of peak vGRF as this is a time when injury may occur prior to statistical analysis.36

For the SL step down, participants stood atop a 20cm box located adjacent to the force platforms, crossed their arms over their chests, and stepped down lowering the foot to the floor and returning to the start position. The stair height was chosen to mimic standard stair riser height. For the jump-landing task, participants stood atop a 30cm box located 50% of the participant's height away from the force platforms.³⁷ Participants jumped forward toward the force platforms, landing with one foot centered on each platform, and immediately upon landing performed a maximal vertical jump landing, once again, with on foot on each of the force platforms. Five good trials were performed. Good trials necessitated each foot landing squarely within the borders of the force platform. Data were averaged across trials and submitted to statistical analysis. No feedback was provided during jump-landing assessment.

3.5 Functional Performance

A series of four hopping tasks and maximal vertical jump (VJ) were utilized to assess functional performance. These tests were chosen because they are easily implemented in the clinical setting and are associated with quadriceps strength (i.e., stronger quadriceps yield better performance).³⁸ For all functional tasks, participants were allowed to move their arms freely. Participants completed one practice trial followed by two recorded trials per limb. Participants were required to maintain balance on the limb being tested following the final hop for each task, if not the trial was repeated. All hop distance measures were normalized to participant leg length (supine measure of anterior superior iliac spine to medial malleolus). VJ testing required one practice trial and two recorded trials. For each functional performance task, the best of the two trials (i.e., farthest hop or highest jump) was submitted to statistical analysis.

The SL hop for distance measures the distance between the starting (toe) and landing (heel) positions along a standard tape measure.³⁹ The SL crossover hop for distance required the participant to hop forward as far as possible while crossing over a tape measure on the floor for three consecutive hops.³⁹ The distance between the starting (toe) and final landing (heel) positions along a standard tape measure was recorded. The SL triple hop for distance measures the distance between the starting (toe) and landing (heel) positions along a standard tape measure was recorded. The SL triple hop for distance measures the distance between the starting (toe) and landing (heel) positions as the participant completes three consecutive forward hops along a standard tape measure.³⁹ The 6m timed hop requires the participant hop as quickly as possible for 6m on a single-limb. The time it takes to hop 6m was recorded.³⁹ VJ was completed using a Vertec vertical jump measuring device. Participants stood with one arm outstretched above their heads to determine starting position. Participants jumped as high as possible, touching the highest vane possible. The difference between standing and jumping heights indicated jump height (cm).

3.6 Feedback

Feedback was provided during a SL step down task. During this step down, participants crossed their arms over their chests and stood on the injured/matched limb, lowering the contralateral limb to the floor before returning to the start position. This task was completed 120 times with feedback. Repetitions were split into sets of 10; thus, participants completed 12 sets of 10 step downs with a minimum 1-minute rest between sets and a 5-minute break between the 6th and 7th sets to minimize any fatigue effects that may have occurred. During InFOCUS, participants watched their knee in a mirror placed in front of them and were instructed to "watch the mirror and keep your knee in line with your toes" during the step down (Figure 1).



FIGURE1. Feedback via InFOCUS.

For ExFOCUS, participants perform the step down with external feedback via a crosshair laser pointer strapped to the midline of the distal thigh of the involved/matched limb. Participants focused on the laser beam and were instructed to keep the crosshairs in a plus sign shape and allow the beam to travel up and down the wall without deviating to the side or rotating (Figure 2). Instructions for both tasks were provided prior to each set of step downs.



FIGURE 2. Feedback via ExFOCUS.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

Independent variables for analysis were group (ACL-R, control), limb (involved, uninvolved or matched in contralateral in the control group), and condition (ExFOCUS, InFOCUS). Dependent variables were hip and knee sagittal and frontal plane angles and moments at peak knee flexion (SL stepdown) or peak vGRF (DVJ), peak vGRF, SL hop distance, crossover hop distance, triple hop distance, 6m timed hop time (s), and VJ height (cm). All data were assessed for normality prior to analysis. For all aims, change scores (pre – post) were calculated for all biomechanical and functional performance variables. Next, a series of 2x2x2 repeated measures ANOVAs were conducted to identify group x condition x limb differences in knee biomechanics and functional performance. Alpha was set a priori at P<0.05 for all analyses. Post hoc testing was performed using one-way ANOVAs and t-tests in the event of significant interactions. To assess magnitude of change over time, Cohen's d effect sizes and associated 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated. Effect sizes were interpreted as: ≥ 0.80 as large; 0.79-0.50 as moderate; 0.49-0.20 as small; ≤ 0.19 as trivial.⁴⁰ Only differences that had a p-value ≤0.05 and a large or moderate effect size with associated 95% CIs that did not cross 0 as statistically significant and clinically meaningful were interpreted.⁴¹ Statistical analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS (v26, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA).

A total of 10 individuals (n=7 ACL-R, n=3 control) participated in this study.

There were no differences in demographic data between groups with the exception of

IKDC. All demographic data are located in Table 1.

TABLE 1. Participant demographic data presented as mean \pm standard deviation unless otherwise noted.

| | ACLR | Control | P-value |
|---------------------------------|-------------|------------|---------|
| Age (years) | 20.86±1.86 | 20.00±2.00 | 0.531 |
| Height (m) | 1.71±0.7 | 1.68±0.03 | 0.400 |
| Mass (kg) | 75.81±14.36 | 65.00±6.55 | 0.258 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 25.81±4.44 | 23.10±1.79 | 0.349 |
| Tegner Score (median[min, max]) | 8 (6,10) | 8.5 (7,10) | 1.000 |
| IKDC | 73.23±3.56 | 77.00±0.00 | 0.113 |
| Time Since Surgery (mos.) | | | |

ACL-R: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction BMI: body mass index IKDC: International Knee Documentation Committee

4.1 Single-Leg Step Down Kinematic Data

There was a significant limb by condition interaction for sagittal plane hip

rotation (P=0.023). However, neither the limb (P=0.855) nor the condition (P=0.647)

main effects were statistically significant for either variable (Table 2; Figures 3-6).

| | Cond. Effect | | 247 | 0.047 | | | U0C.U | | | 0.838 | | | 0.520 | |
|------|-----------------|------|--------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------------------------|----------------|-----------------|---------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|
| | Limb Effect | | 0 955 | CC0.U | | | 1.191 | | | 0.373 | | | 0.806 | |
| | Group Effect | | 00C U | 0.700 | | | C/7.0 | | i t | 90./0 | | | 0.311 | |
| | olved | Post | | 28.8 ± 8.6 | 27.6 ± 25.0 | | -9.7 ± 22.5 | -22.6 ± 1.3 | | -77.5 ± 9.3 | -74.2 ± 7.2 | | 7.3 ± 5.0 | $0.4{\pm}7.1$ |
| trol | Uninv | Pre | | 23.9 ± 2.2 | 34.3 ± 21.3 | | -8.7 ± 19.5 | -24.0 ± 1.3 | | -78.5 ± 5.3 | -76.9 ± 3.9 | | 1.6 ± 9.8 | 4.6±0.6 |
| Cont | lved | Post | | 32.5±7.8 | 32.4 ± 20.0 | | 2.9 ± 19.4 | 14.8 ± 1.0 | | -81.9 ± 2.7 | -68.7 ± 11.8 | | 1.7 ± 8.9 | 3.2±6.4 |
| | Invo | Pre | | 33.3 ± 2.6 | 35.6 ± 20.9 | | 2.7 ± 17.9 | 15.9 ± 0.3 | | -83.7±7.2 | -82.0 ± 2.5 | | 0.6 ± 6.8 | -1.8±2.5 |
| | olved | Post | | 34.7 ± 17.4 | 23.3 ± 11.4 | | 4.3 ± 17.7 | 11.3 ± 14.8 | | -64.6±43.8 | -79.5±5.9 | | 2.q±11.3 | -1.0±8.5 |
| C-R | Uninv | Pre | | 28.3 ± 11.8 | 27.6 ± 11.6 | | -1.4 ± 15.6 | 10.5 ± 12.5 | | -71.5 ± 33.3 | -81.6 ± 3.8 | | 0.6 ± 9.1 | 0.6 ± 8.1 |
| ACI | lved | Post | | 32.2 ± 11.5 | 27.4 ± 8.7 | | -2.7±15.4 | -11.8 ± 17.1 | | -73.0 ± 30.2 | -79.1 ± 6.6 | | 5.9 ± 8.4 | 0.2 ± 11.9 |
| | Invoi | Pre | | 33.5 ± 11.5 | 27.1 ± 8.8 | | -5.0 ± 17.3 | -9.0 ± 16.7 | | -85.1 ± 9.2 | -68.0 ± 28.6 | | 7.3 ± 10.8 | 2.6 ± 10.6 |
| | | | Hip Sagittal Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Hip Frontal Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Knee Sagittal Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Knee Frontal Plane | InFocus | ExFocus |

TABLE 2. Pre- and post-intervention kinematic data for single limb step down are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

ACL-R: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; Cond.: condition; InFocus: internal focus of attention feedback; ExFocus: external focus of attention feedback; Hip flexion (+)/extension (-); Hip adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee flexion (+)/extension (-); Knee adduction (+)/abduction (-)



FIGURE 3. Average hip sagittal plane rotation during SL step down for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold.



FIGURE 4. Average hip frontal plane rotation during SL step down for each group.



FIGURE 5. Average knee sagittal plane rotation during SL step down for each group.



FIGURE 6. Average knee frontal plane rotation during SL step down for each group.

4.2 Single-Leg Step Down Kinetics

Changes in neither hip nor knee sagittal and frontal plane moments differed between groups, limbs, or conditions (Table 3; Figures 7-10).



FIGURE 7. Average hip sagittal plane moment during SL step down for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold.



FIGURE 8. Average hip frontal plane moment during SL step down for each group.



FIGURE 9. Average knee sagittal plane moment during SL step down for each group.



FIGURE 10. Average knee frontal plane moment during SL step down for each group.

| 2 | Cond. | Dalla | | 0.122 | | | 0 63.4 | 0.024 | | | 2720 | COC.U | | | | 0.968 | | |
|--------|--------|--------|------------------------------|----------------|----------------|-------------------|--------|-----------------|----------------|-----------------------------|--------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------------|--------|-----------------|-----------------|--|
| I inch | L1III0 | Ellect | | 0.425 | | | 0000 | <i>כווכ</i> יט | | | | 470.0 | | | | 0.342 | | |
| | Group | Ellect | | 0.988 | | | CV 8 0 | 0.044 | | | 0.120 | 001.0 | | | | 0.747 | | |
| | olved | Post | | -0.07 ± 0.03 | -0.07 ± 0.03 | | | 0.04 ± 0.06 | 0.05 ± 0.02 | | | 0.52 ± 0.01 | 0.05 ± 0.01 | | | 0.01 ± 0.02 | 0.01 ± 0.01 | |
| trol | Uninv | Pre | | -0.05 ± 0.02 | -0.06 ± 0.01 | | | 0.03 ± 0.06 | 0.09 ± 0.02 | | | 0.06 ± 0.01 | 0.06 ± 0.01 | | | 0.01 ± 0.02 | 0.02 ± 0.01 | |
| Con | lved | Post | | -0.09 ± 0.02 | $-0.09\pm.04$ | | | -0.03 ± 0.06 | -0.06 ± 0.07 | | | 0.05 ± 0.01 | 0.05 ± 0.02 | | | -0.01 ± 0.02 | -0.01±0.01 | |
| | [ovn] | Pre | | -0.10 ± 0.02 | -0.08 ± 0.01 | | | -0.01 ± 0.04 | -0.04 ± 0.02 | | | 0.05 ± 0.01 | 0.06 ± 0.01 | | | -0.01 ± 0.01 | -0.01±0.03 | |
| | olved | Post | | -0.08 ± 0.07 | -0.07±0.09 | | | -0.05 ± 0.06 | -0.01 ± 0.04 | | | 0.05 ± 0.01 | 0.05 ± 0.01 | | | -0.02 ± 0.01 | -0.01±0.01 | |
| L-R | Uninv | Pre | | -0.07 ± 0.07 | -0.06±0.09 | | | -0.02 ± 0.04 | -0.02 ± 0.03 | | | 0.01 ± 0.08 | 0.03 ± 0.06 | | | -0.04 ± 0.08 | -0.01±0.01 | |
| ACI | lved | Post | | -0.05 ± 0.13 | -3.96±9.45 | | | -0.04 ± 0.08 | 1.43 ± 3.45 | | | 0.05 ± 0.02 | 0.04 ± 0.01 | | | -0.01 ± 0.04 | 0.01 ± 0.01 | |
| | Invo | Pre | | 0.23 ± 0.85 | -0.10 ± 0.06 | | | -0.86 ± 2.26 | -0.01 ± 0.06 | | | 1.33 ± 3.42 | 0.02 ± 0.04 | | | -1.43 ± 3.80 | 0.01 ± 0.01 | |
| | | | Hip Sagittal Plane Torque | InFocus | ExFocus | Hip Frontal Plane | Torque | InFocus | ExFocus | OKnee Sagittal Plane | Torque | InFocus | ExFocus | Knee Frontal Plane | Torque | InFocus | ExFocus | |

TABLE 2. Pre- and post-intervention kinetic data for single limb step down are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

ACL-R: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; Cond.: condition; InFocus: internal focus of attention feedback; ExFocus: external focus of attention feedback; Hip flexion (+)/extension (-); Hip adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee flexion (+)/extension (-); Knee adduction (+)/abduction (-);

4.3 Drop Vertical Jump Kinematic Data

Changes in neither hip nor knee sagittal and frontal plane angles differed between groups, limbs, or conditions (Table 4; Figures 11-14).



FIGURE 11. Average hip sagittal plane rotation during DVJ for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold.



FIGURE 12. Average hip frontal plane rotation during DVJ for each group.



FIGURE 13. Average knee sagittal plane rotation during DVJ for each group.



FIGURE 14. Average knee frontal plane rotation during DVJ for each group.

| | Cond. | Ellect | 0150 | 0./10 | | | | 0.0.0 | | | 0.251 | 100.0 | | | | 0.142 | |
|------|---------|--------|--------------------------------|-----------------|----------------|-------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------------|
| 1 | Limb | Ellect | | 0.000 | | | | 0.240 | | | 0 160 | 0.400 | | | 072.0 | c0/.0 | |
| | Leffoot | Ellect | | 060.0 | | | 0.060 | 0.000 | | | | 0.211 | | | 1120 | 44C.U | |
| | olved | Post | | 23.7±2.7 | 24.8 ± 24.7 | | | $2.4{\pm}10.0$ | -1.1 ± 12.8 | | | -46.4±7.7 | -54.1 ± 8.1 | | | 6.5 ± 8.1 | -0.1 ± 2.9 |
| rol | Uninv | Pre | | 22.5 ± 9.9 | 27.3 ± 18.6 | | | 1.4 ± 12.8 | 1.5 ± 13.4 | | | -44.5±4.2 | -47.9±4.6 | | | 1.4 ± 6.2 | $-0.4.2\pm 2.9$ |
| Cont | ved | Post | | 26.9 ± 6.9 | 26.1 ± 25.4 | | | -5.0 ± 17.8 | -1.4±4.4 | | | -49.2 ± 3.4 | -54.1 ± 2.7 | | | 1.3 ± 7.8 | -1.4±4.4 |
| | Invol | Pre | | 23.8 ± 9.0 | 27.5±15.4 | | | -5.3 ± 15.2 | -5.6±17.2 | | | -44.1 ± 6.12 | -36.3 ± 17.6 | | | -1.00 ± 3.8 | $-0.4.1\pm3.5$ |
| | olved | Post | | 22.5 ± 14.3 | 8.6 ± 22.5 | | | -6.3±8.6 | -12.1 ± 3.6 | | | -51.4 ± 8.3 | -34.8±56.2 | | | -5.0±5.0 | -3.9 ± 7.16 |
| L-R | Uninve | Pre | | 21.44 ± 11.8 | 21.2 ± 8.2 | | | -2.5±8.6 | -9.5±7.2 | | | -47.9 ± 11.2 | -55.3±6.2 | | | -1.2±9.8 | -5.4 ± 3.9 |
| ACI | lved | Post | | 19.5 ± 10.8 | $6.9{\pm}18.9$ | | | 5.3 ± 9.5 | 6.6±6.9 | | | -51 ± 12.8 | -35.8 ± 44.1 | | | 9.4 ± 8.7 | 2.7 ± 10.2 |
| | Invo | Pre | | 21.35 ± 11.1 | 16.7 ± 10.4 | | | 3.912.8 | 6.2 ± 9.2 | | | -54.4±7.5 | -49.3 ± 11.9 | | | 3.6±8.5 | 2.3 ± 0.2 |
| | | | Hip Sagittal Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Hip Frontal | Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Knee Sagittal | Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus | Knee Frontal | Plane Rotation | InFocus | ExFocus |

ı

ı

TABLE 4. Pre- and post-intervention data for kinematic data for drop vertical jump are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

ACL-R: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; Cond.: condition; InFocus: internal focus of attention feedback; ExFocus: external focus of attention feedback; Hip flexion (+)/extension (-); Hip adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee flexion (+)/extension (-); Knee adduction (+)/abduction (-) There was a significant limb by group interaction for frontal plane knee moment (P=0.027) and peak vGRF (P=0.044). However, neither the limb (P=0.142) nor the group (P=0.792) main effects were statistically significant for either variable.

There was a significant main effect of condition for hip frontal plane torque (P=0.025). Specifically, participants demonstrated a greater increase in external hip abduction moment from pre- to post-testing in the InFOCUS compared to the ExFOCUS session. Finally, there was a significant main effect of condition for vGRF (P=0.041), with the differences from baseline being greater during the ExFOCUS than the InFOCUS session (Table 5; Figures 15-19).

| | | ACL | -R | | | Con | itrol | | Group | Limb | Cond. |
|---------------------|----------------|---------------|----------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|--------|--------|--------|
| | Invc | lved | Uninv | olved | Invo | lved | Uninv | /olved | Effect | Effect | Effect |
| | Pre | Post | Pre | Post | Pre | Post | Pre | Post | | | |
| Hip Sagittal Plane | | | | | | | | | | | |
| InFocus | 1.54 ± 4.9 | -0.1 ± 0.4 | 1.8 ± 5.5 | -0.4 ± 0.3 | -0.7±0.2 | -0.7±0.3 | 1.7 ± 0.3 | 8±0.2 | 0.557 | 0.691 | 0.063 |
| ExFocus | -0.9 ± 0.5 | -0.2 ± 0.1 | -0.7±0.3 | -0.5±0.5 | -0.2±0.3 | -0.4±0.4 | -0.5±0.4 | -0.4±0.4 | _ | | |
| Hip Frontal Plane | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Torque | | | | | | | | | 0 630 | 0760 | 0.060 |
| InFocus | 2.3 ± 5.4 | 0.2 ± 0.3 | -0.8 ± 1.9 | -0.1 ± 0.2 | 0.2 ± 0.2 | $0.1{\pm}0.1$ | 4.3 ± 0.9 | 0.2 ± 0.2 | 000.0 | 00 | 006.0 |
| ExFocus | 0.2 ± 0.3 | 0.1 ± 0.2 | -0.1 ± 0.2 | $0.1{\pm}0.7$ | 0.2 ± 0.1 | 0.1 ± 0.1 | $0.1{\pm}0.1$ | $0.1 {\pm} 0.2$ | | | |
| Knee Sagittal Plane | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Torque | | | | | | | | | 0 251 | 0.015 | 0700 |
| InFocus | -6.6 ± 21.1 | 0.9 ± 5 | -7.1±20.9 | 0.9 ± 0.2 | $0.7{\pm}0.2$ | 0.8 ± 0.1 | 5.4 ± 1.5 | 1.1 ± 0.1 | 100.0 | C17.0 | 607.0 |
| ExFocus | 0.9 ± 04 | 0.8 ± 0.5 | 0.9 ± 0.2 | 0.8 ± 00.4 | 0.9 ± 0.2 | 0.9 ± 0.3 | 0.9 ± 0.2 | $1.1\pm0.$ | | | |
| Knee Frontal Plane | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Torque | | | | | | | | | 0 707 | 0117 | 0 306 |
| InFocus | 2.5 ± 6.4 | 0.01 ± 0.11 | -1.2 ± 3.4 | 0.1 ± 0.1 | 0.2 ± 0.1 | 0.1 ± 0.1 | 2.3 ± 0.2 | $0.1 {\pm} 0.2$ | 761.0 | 7+1.0 | 070.0 |
| ExFocus | 0.15 ± 0.18 | 0.1 ± 0.17 | $0.1{\pm}0.1$ | 0.1 ± 0.1 | 0.2 ± 01 | 0.1 ± 0.1 | 0.2 ± 0.1 | 0.1 ± 0.1 | | | |
| vGRF | | | | | | | | | | | |
| InFocus | 1.7 ± 0.5 | 1.7 ± 0.61 | 1.3 ± 0.20 | 1.3 ± 0.2 | 1.8 ± 0.2 | 1.7 ± 0.3 | 1.9 ± 0.1 | 2.1 ± 0.2 | 0.738 | 0.187 | 0.044 |
| ExFocus | 1.4 ± 0.33 | 1.3 ± 0.2 | 1.7 ± 0.4 | 1.5 ± 0.4 | 1.7 ± 0.3 | 1.8 ± 0.1 | 1.4 ± 0.4 | 1.6 ± 0.4 | _ | | |

ACL-K: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; Cond.: condition; InFocus: internal focus of attention feedback; ExFocus: external focus of attention feedback; Hip flexion (+)/extension (-); Hip adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee flexion (+)/extension (-); Knee adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee adduction (+)/abduction (-);



FIGURE 15. Average hip sagittal plane moment during DVJ for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold.



FIGURE 16. Average hip frontal plane moment during DVJ for each group.



FIGURE 17. Average knee sagittal plane moment during DVJ for each group.



FIGURE 18. Average knee frontal plane moment during DVJ for each group.



FIGURE 19. Average vertical ground reaction force during DVJ for each group.

4.3 Functional Performance Data

With the exception of the triple hop for distance test, there were no differences between groups, limbs, or conditions for any of the functional performance measures (Table 4; Figure 10-14). The triple hop for distance test demonstrated a significant group main effect (P=0.016) such that the control group demonstrated greater changes in triple hop distance from baseline compared to the ACL-R group regardless of limb or condition (Table 6; Figures 20-24). TABLE 6. Pre- and post-intervention data for functional hop tests. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

| Condition | Effect | | 0.125 | | | | 0.381 | | | | 0.851 | | | | 0.110 | | | | | 0.859 | | | | |
|-----------|--------|------|--------|---------|-------------|-------------|-----------|-----|---------------|---------------|--------|-----|---------------|---------------|-----------|-----------|-----|---------------|---------------|----------|------|------|---------------|---|
| Limb | Effect | | 0.303 | | | | 0.751 | | | | 0.279 | | | | 0.318 | | | | | | | | | |
| Group | Effect | | 0.658 | | | | 0.376 | | | | 0.016 | | | | 0.773 | | | | | 0.211 | | | | |
| | olved | Post | | | 1.9±0.3 | 2.2 ± 0.3 | | | 4.4 ± 1.4 | 5.7 ± 1.4 | | | 5.3 ± 1.8 | 6.2 ± 1.3 | | | | 2.3 ± 0.3 | 2.2 ± 0.2 | | | | | |
| trol | Uninv | Pre | | | 1.7 ± 0.3 | 2.1 ± 0.2 | | | 4.3 ± 0.9 | 5.7 ± 1.5 | | | 5.4 ± 1.5 | 6.4 ± 1.4 | | | | 2.3 ± 0.2 | 2.2 ± 0.2 | | | | | |
| Con | lved | Post | | | 1.9±0.2 | 2.1 ± 0.4 | | | 4.5 ± 1.5 | 5.6 ± 1.5 | | | $4.9{\pm}1.2$ | 6.0 ± 1.5 | | | | 2.5 ± 0.4 | 2.2 ± 0.3 | | | | 7.1 ± 1.0 | |
| | Invo | Pre | | | 1./±0.2 | 2.1 ± 0.3 | | | $4.4{\pm}1.0$ | 5.6 ± 1.6 | | | 5.4 ± 1.4 | 6.3 ± 1.6 | | | | 2.3 ± 0.2 | 2.1 ± 0.2 | | | | 7.3±0.6 | - |
| | olved | Post | | | 2.0±0.3 | 2.1 ± 0.3 | | | 5.0 ± 0.8 | 5.3 ± 0.7 | | | 5.4 ± 0.7 | 5.5 ± 0.7 | | | | 2.3 ± 0.2 | 2.3 ± 0.1 | | | | | |
| L-R | Uninv | Pre | | | 1.8 ± 0.3 | 2.0 ± 0.3 | | | 4.6 ± 0.9 | 5.2 ± 0.7 | | | 5.3 ± 0.9 | 5.5 ± 0.8 | | | | 2.3 ± 0.2 | 2.3 ± 0.3 | | | | | |
| ACI | lved | Post | | | 2.0±0.3 | 2.0 ± 0.3 | | | 4.9 ± 0.7 | 5.0 ± 0.7 | | | 5.3 ± 0.7 | 5.3 ± 0.7 | | | | 2.5 ± 0.2 | $2.4{\pm}0.1$ | | | | $8.7{\pm}1.6$ | |
| | Invo | Pre | | | 1.9 ± 0.2 | 1.9 ± 0.3 | | | 4.6 ± 0.8 | 4.9 ± 0.7 | | | 5.2 ± 0.8 | 5.4 ± 0.8 | | | | 2.2 ± 0.1 | 2.3 ± 0.2 | | | | $8.3{\pm}1.7$ | |
| | | | Single | Leg Hop | InFocus | ExFocus | Crossover | Hop | InFocus | ExFocus | Triple | Hop | InFocus | ExFocus | Six meter | timed hop | (s) | InFocus | ExFocus | Vertical | Jump | (cm) | InFocus | |

ACL-R: anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction; InFocus: internal focus of attention feedback; ExFocus: external focus of attention feedback; Hip flexion (+)/extension (-); Hip adduction (+)/abduction (-); Knee flexion (+)/extension (-); Knee adduction (-);



FIGURE 20. Average normalized single limb hop distance for each group. Involved limbs are represented by solid lines, uninvolved by dashed lines. InFOCUS is represented by circles, ExFOCUS by squares. The ACL-R group is in green and the control in gold.



FIGURE 21. Average normalized crossover hop distance for each group.



FIGURE 22. Average normalized triple hop distance for each group



FIGURE 23. Average 6m hop time for each group.



FIGURE 24. Average vertical jump height for each group.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

This preliminary study investigated the effects of a single bout of InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training on functional performance and biomechanics of patients post ACL-R and healthy adults Overall, neither training effectively changed biomechanics or functional performance.

5.1 Single Leg Step Down Kinematic Data

Minimal kinematic changes were observed during single-leg step down following InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training. We did observe a significant group x condition interaction for sagittal plane hip rotation. However, neither main effect was significant. After graphically viewing the data, it appears that this interaction is driven by increase in hip flexion angle in the ACL-R group. However, these changes were less than 10° and associated effect sizes were small (-0.04 to -0.46). Thus, this change, while positive, would not be clinically impactful in terms of reducing the risk of ACL injury. There were no other changes observed in hip joint angles, nor were there any changes observed in knee joint angles.

5.2 Single Leg Step Down Kinetic Data

No changes were observed in hip or knee joint kinetics during the step down task. While differences were not statistically significant, there was a large effect (d=-1.46) with a confidence interval that does not cross zero for the ACL-R group following the InFOCUS intervention. Notably, ACL-R participants demonstrated a greater abduction moment at the hip following InFOCUS. On the contrary, ExFOCUS training brought ACL-R participants toward more neutral hip joint moments. Despite the absence of

40

statistical significance, the implications of a hip abduction moment in non-contact ACL injury risk warrant further investigation of these findings upon completion of this study.

5.3 Drop Vertical Jump Kinematic Data

Contrary to our hypothesis, no changes were observed in hip or knee joint angles following training. Previous research has demonstrated the capability of individuals to increase hip and knee flexion immediately after a training session.⁴² However, there are notable differences between our study and that of Ericksen et al. First, the previous study provided participants with error-based feedback or error based-feedback plus real-time visualization of vGRF. Our participants did not receive feedback on any errors they may have performed during training. Feedback of errors made is known to improve performance.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ Second, the previous study trained individuals during the jump-landing task while we provided feedback during SL step down. The reason for not providing feedback during jump-landing was that it is too quick of a movement for participants to adequately view the laser during ExFOCUS feedback training. Third, the previous study utilized healthy adults as it was examining primary ACL injury prevention strategies. Examining our data, the healthy group change scores approached comparable magnitudes of differences in joint angle when compared to those in the study by Ericksen et al. However, with only 3 healthy adults in our study we cannot conclude that our training protocol would be beneficial to changing biomechanics to prevent primary injury.

5.4 Drop Vertical Jump Kinetic Data

Minimal changes were observed during drop vertical jump joint kinetics following InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training. We did observe a significant group x limb interaction for knee frontal plane moment. However, neither main effect was significant. After graphically viewing the data, it appears that this interaction is driven by changes in landing strategy among the patients in the ACL-R group as these participants went from an adducted to a neutral knee moment in the involved limb while the uninvolved went from an abducted to a neutral knee moment following ExFOCUS training. The control group experienced a more neutral knee moment throughout. It is well-established that a greater external knee abduction moment may contribute to non-contact ACL injury and re-injury. ^{46,47} Thus, landing with a more neutral frontal plane moment at the knee may be beneficial. It is possible that any changes we did observe in knee frontal plane kinetics were not statistically significant as we did not screen individuals for an increased external knee abduction load initially, it would have been difficult to improve upon their landing strategy. Future investigations may consider screening for biomechanics prior to enrollment.

The hip frontal plane moment and vGRF demonstrated significant condition main effects, with the change hip frontal plane moment being greater following InFOCUS training and the change in vGRF being greater following ExFOCUS training. Landing with a more neutral hip frontal plane moment is beneficial to reducing ACL injury risk. It is possible that the difference in the directions provided during InFOCUS to "keep the knee in line with the toe" compared to ExFOCUS to "move the laser up the wall without letting it rotate or deviate to the side" help explain this finding. Keeping the knee in line with the toe while watching oneself step down in a mirror requires activation of the hip joint musculature and may lend itself to a strategy whereby participants alter frontal plane hip joint loading to ensure a more neutral (knee over toe) posture. Conversely, the ExFOCUS instructions may have lent to more of a transverse plane control over the hip rather than a frontal plane strategy. Examining muscle activation or transverse plane biomechanics would provide more insight into this hypothesis.

Regarding changes in vGRF, while the condition main effect was statistically significant, and the magnitude of change is similar to that previously reported, both groups and limbs increased and decreased vGRF following training making it difficult to meaningfully interpret these outcomes. Greater vGRF is associated with greater ACL injury risk. Therefore, the greater change (increase) in vGRF following ExFOCUS is not the ideal response to the training. Modifying the training task or directions appears necessary to reduce, not increase, injury risk.

5.5 Functional Performance

The change in triple hop distance was greater in the control compared to the ACL-R group. That the healthy group decreased triple hop distance without decreasing performance on any of the other functional tasks suggests that this was not related to either of the training interventions. Recent evidence ⁴⁸suggests that even if our InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training had improved biomechanics that this may not have transferred to the functional performance tasks as there are numerous discrepancies between 3D biomechanics and functional performance abilities, meaning that just because someone demonstrates optimal biomechanics when assessed using 3D motion capture that these biomechanics do not lend to greater hop distances. Further, as our tasks were not designed to improve muscle strength or power, which have been associated with performance on these functional tasks, it is not surprising that hop distance and jump height did not improve consistently across tasks in either of our groups.

5.6 Limitations

This study was not without limitations. First, we were not able to control for time since surgery. Participants were, on average, 32 months post-ACL-R. While it seems possible to change biomechanics at any time point following surgery, there may be an ideal window in which to intervene where changes may be greatest. Alternatively, a single bout of training may not be able to change biomechanics further out from surgery whereas participants in their initial post-operative rehabilitation period may see greater within-session changes as they have more room to improve their biomechanics at this early time point. Additionally, we were unable to control for graft type. However, there is little evidence to suggest that graft type influences jump-landing biomechanics. Another limitation is the small sample size of the present dataset. Additional participants are needed before our findings can be generalized to the population as a whole.

5.7 Conclusion

This preliminary investigation suggests that a single session of InFOCUS or ExFOCUS training is not sufficient to alter lower extremity biomechanics or functional performance in patients after ACL-R or healthy adults. To effectively reduce the risk of ACL injury, this intervention may need to last longer than a single session. Strategies to reduce injury risk among patients after ACL-R are necessary; therefore, future studies should have participants preform multiple sessions of each condition so that it can be observed whether or not changes occur.

REFERENCES

- 1. Johnson DL, Warner JJ. Diagnosis for anterior cruciate ligament surgery. *Clinics in sports medicine*. 1993;12(4):671-684.
- 2. Herzog MM, Marshall SW, Lund JL, Pate V, Spang JT. Cost of Outpatient Arthroscopic Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Among Commercially Insured Patients in the United States, 2005-2013. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2017;5(1):2325967116684776.
- 3. Luc B, Gribble PA, Pietrosimone BG. Osteoarthritis Prevalence Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction: A Systematic Review and Numbers-Needed-to-Treat Analysis. *Journal of athletic training*. 2014;49(6):806-819.
- 4. Paterno MV, Rauh MJ, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Incidence of contralateral and ipsilateral anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury after primary ACL reconstruction and return to sport. *Clin J Sport Med.* 2012;22(2):116-121.
- 5. Dai B, Mao M, Garrett WE, Yu B. Biomechanical characteristics of an anterior cruciate ligament injury in javelin throwing. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*. 2015;4(4):333-340.
- 6. Bien DP, Dubuque TJ. Considerations for late stage acl rehabilitation and return to sport to limit re-injury risk and maximize athletic performance. *International journal of sports physical therapy*. 2015;10(2):256-271.
- 7. Gokeler A, Benjaminse A, Hewett TE, et al. Feedback techniques to target functional deficits following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: implications for motor control and reduction of second injury risk. *Sports medicine (Auckland, NZ).* 2013;43(11):1065-1074.
- 8. Johnson L, Burridge JH, Demain SH. Internal and External Focus of Attention During Gait Re-Education: An Observational Study of Physical Therapist Practice in Stroke Rehabilitation. *Physical therapy*. 2013;93(7):957-966.
- 9. Wulf G, McNevin N, Shea CH. The automaticity of complex motor skill learning as a function of attentional focus. *The Quarterly journal of experimental psychology A, Human experimental psychology.* 2001;54(4):1143-1154.
- 10. Gokeler A, Benjaminse A, Welling W, Alferink M, Eppinga P, Otten B. The effects of attentional focus on jump performance and knee joint kinematics in patients after ACL reconstruction. *Phys Ther Sport.* 2015;16(2):114-120.
- 11. Goldblatt JP, Richmond JC. Anatomy and biomechanics of the knee. *Operative Techniques in Sports Medicine*. 2003;11(3):172-186.

- 12. Lam M-H, Fong DTP, Yung PSH, Ho EPY, Chan W-Y, Chan K-M. Knee stability assessment on anterior cruciate ligament injury: Clinical and biomechanical approaches. *Sports Medicine, Arthroscopy, Rehabilitation, Therapy, and Technology : SMARTT.* 2009;1:20-20.
- 13. Petersen W, Zantop T. Anatomy of the anterior cruciate ligament with regard to its two bundles. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*. 2007;454:35-47.
- 14. Bach JM, Hull ML, Patterson HA. Direct measurement of strain in the posterolateral bundle of the anterior cruciate ligament. *J Biomech*. 1997;30(3):281-283.
- 15. Belisle AL, Bicos J, Geaney L, et al. Strain pattern comparison of double- and single-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction techniques with the native anterior cruciate ligament. *Arthroscopy*. 2007;23(11):1210-1217.
- 16. Sakane M, Fox RJ, Woo SL, Livesay GA, Li G, Fu FH. In situ forces in the anterior cruciate ligament and its bundles in response to anterior tibial loads. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*. 1997;15(2):285-293.
- 17. Joseph AM, Collins CL, Henke NM, Yard EE, Fields SK, Comstock RD. A multisport epidemiologic comparison of anterior cruciate ligament injuries in high school athletics. *Journal of athletic training*. 2013;48(6):810-817.
- 18. Arendt E, Dick R. Knee Injury Patterns Among Men and Women in Collegiate Basketball and Soccer. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 1995;23(6):694-701.
- 19. Fitzgerald GK, Axe MJ, Snyder-Mackler L. A decision-making scheme for returning patients to high-level activity with nonoperative treatment after anterior cruciate ligament rupture. *Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA.* 2000;8(2):76-82.
- 20. Jackson DW, Corsetti J, Simon TM. Biologic incorporation of allograft anterior cruciate ligament replacements. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*. 1996(324):126-133.
- 21. Jackson DW, Grood ES, Goldstein JD, et al. A comparison of patellar tendon autograft and allograft used for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in the goat model. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 1993;21(2):176-185.
- 22. Pinkowski JL, Reiman PR, Chen SL. Human lymphocyte reaction to freeze-dried allograft and xenograft ligamentous tissue. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 1989;17(5):595-600.

- 23. Kaeding CC, Aros B, Pedroza A, et al. Allograft Versus Autograft Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction: Predictors of Failure From a MOON Prospective Longitudinal Cohort. *Sports Health*. 2011;3(1):73-81.
- 24. Miller MD, Harner CD. The use of allograft. Techniques and results. *Clinics in sports medicine*. 1993;12(4):757-770.
- 25. Olson EJ, Harner CD, Fu FH, Silbey MB. Clinical use of fresh, frozen soft tissue allografts. *Orthopedics*. 1992;15(10):1225-1232.
- 26. Marx RG, Jones EC, Angel M, Wickiewicz TL, Warren RF. Beliefs and attitudes of members of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons regarding the treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association.* 2003;19(7):762-770.
- 27. Mirza F, Mai DD, Kirkley A, Fowler PJ, Amendola A. Management of injuries to the anterior cruciate ligament: results of a survey of orthopaedic surgeons in Canada. *Clinical journal of sport medicine : official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine*. 2000;10(2):85-88.
- Schilaty ND, Nagelli C, Bates NA, et al. Incidence of Second Anterior Cruciate Ligament Tears and Identification of Associated Risk Factors From 2001 to 2010 Using a Geographic Database. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2017;5(8):2325967117724196.
- 29. Brophy RH, Wright RW, Matava MJ. Cost analysis of converting from singlebundle to double-bundle anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 2009;37(4):683-687.
- 30. Ardern C, Webster K, Taylor N, Feller J. Return to sport following ACL reconstruction surgery: Are our expectations for recovery too high? *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*. 2010;13, Supplement 1:e5.
- 31. Beynnon BD, Johnson RJ, Abate JA, Fleming BC, Nichols CE. Treatment of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries, Part 2. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 2005;33(11):1751-1767.
- 32. Goerger BM, Marshall SW, Beutler AI, Blackburn JT, Wilckens JH, Padua DA. Anterior cruciate ligament injury alters preinjury lower extremity biomechanics in the injured and uninjured leg: the JUMP-ACL study. *British journal of sports medicine*. 2015;49(3):188-195.
- 33. Noyes FR, Mooar PA, Matthews DS, Butler DL. The symptomatic anterior cruciate-deficient knee. Part I: the long-term functional disability in athletically active individuals. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume*. 1983;65(2):154-162.

- 34. Nagelli CV, Hewett TE. Should Return to Sport be Delayed Until 2 Years After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction? Biological and Functional Considerations. *Sports Med.* 2017;47(2):221-232.
- 35. Thomas AC, Lepley LK, Wojtys EM, McLean SG, Palmieri-Smith RM. Effects of Neuromuscular Fatigue on Quadriceps Strength and Activation and Knee Biomechanics in Individuals Post-Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction and Healthy Adults. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther.* 2015;45(12):1042-1050.
- 36. Ireland ML. The female ACL: why is it more prone to injury? *Orthop Clin North Am.* 2002;33(4):637-651.
- 37. Padua DA, Marshall SW, Boling MC, Thigpen CA, Garrett WE, Jr., Beutler AI. The Landing Error Scoring System (LESS) Is a valid and reliable clinical assessment tool of jump-landing biomechanics: The JUMP-ACL study. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 2009;37(10):1996-2002.
- 38. Hamilton RT, Shultz SJ, Schmitz RJ, Perrin DH. Triple-Hop Distance as a Valid Predictor of Lower Limb Strength and Power. *Journal of athletic training*. 2008;43(2):144-151.
- 39. Grindem H, Logerstedt D, Eitzen I, et al. Single-legged hop tests as predictors of self-reported knee function in nonoperatively treated individuals with anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Am J Sports Med.* 2011;39(11):2347-2354.
- 40. Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 1988.
- 41. Hopkins W, Marshall S, Batterham A, Hanin J. Progressive statistics for studies in sports medicine and exercise science. *Medicine+ Science in Sports+ Exercise*. 2009;41(1):3.
- 42. Ericksen HM TA, Gribble PA, Doebel SC, Pietrosimone BG. Immediate Effects of Real-Time Feedback on Jump-Landing Kinematics. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*. 2015;45(2):112-118.
- 43. Ericksen HM, Gribble PA, Pfile KR, Pietrosimone BG. Different modes of feedback and peak vertical ground reaction force during jump landing: a systematic review. *J Athl Train*. 2013;48(5):685-695.
- 44. Herman DC, Onate JA, Weinhold PS, et al. The effects of feedback with and without strength training on lower extremity biomechanics. *Am J Sports Med.* 2009;37(7):1301-1308.
- 45. Hewett TE, Ford KR, Myer GD. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries in female athletes: Part 2, a meta-analysis of neuromuscular interventions aimed at injury prevention. *Am J Sports Med.* 2006;34(3):490-498.

- 46. Paterno MV, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, et al. Biomechanical measures during landing and postural stability predict second anterior cruciate ligament injury after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and return to sport. *The American journal of sports medicine*. 2010;38(10):1968-1978.
- 47. Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, Paterno MV, Quatman CE. Mechanisms, prediction, and prevention of ACL injuries: Cut risk with three sharpened and validated tools. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*. 2016;34(11):1843-1855.
- 48. Burland JP, Lepley AS, DiStefano LJ, Lepley LK. No shortage of disagreement between biomechanical and clinical hop symmetry after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Clinical biomechanics (Bristol, Avon).* 2019;68:144-150.

APPENDIX A: PATIENT REPORTED OUTCOMES

TEGNER ACTIVITY LEVEL SCALE

Please indicate in the spaces below the HIGHEST level of activity that you participated in <u>BEFORE YOUR INJURY</u> and the highest level you are able to participate in <u>CURRENTLY</u>.

BEFORE INJURY: Level_____ CURRENT: Level_____

| Level 10 | Competitive sports- soccer, football, rugby (national elite) |
|----------|--|
| Level 9 | Competitive sports- soccer, football, rugby (lower divisions), ice hockey, wrestling, gymnastics, basketball |
| Level 8 | Competitive sports- racquetball or bandy, squash or badminton, track and field athletics (jumping, etc.), down-hill skiing |
| Level 7 | Competitive sports- tennis, running, motorcars speedway, handball Recreational sports- soccer, football, rugby, bandy, ice hockey, basketball, squash, racquetball, running |
| Level 6 | Recreational sports- tennis and badminton, handball, racquetball, down-hill skiing, jogging at least 5 times per week |
| Level 5 | Work- heavy labor (construction, etc.) Competitive sports- cycling, cross-country skiing, Recreational sports- jogging on uneven ground at least twice weekly |
| Level 4 | Work- moderately heavy labor (e.g. truck driving, etc.) |
| Level 3 | Work- light labor (nursing, etc.) |
| Level 2 | Work- light labor Walking on uneven ground possible, but impossible to backpack or hike |
| Level 1 | Work- sedentary (secretarial, etc.) |
| Level 0 | Sick leave or disability pension because of knee problems |

Y Tegner and J Lysolm. *Rating Systems in the Evaluation of Knee Ligament Injuries*. <u>Clinical</u> <u>Orthopedics and Related Research</u>. Vol. 198: 43-49, 1985.

2000 IKDC SUBJECTIVE KNEE EVALUATION FORM

| You | r Fu | ll Name_ | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|------------------|---|---------------------------------|------------|-----------|-----------|------------|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|--------------------------|
| Tod | lay's | Date: _ | Day / | Month / | Year | | | Date of | Injury: | Day | Month | / Year | |
| SY *Gr eve | <u>SYMPTOMS</u>*: *Grade symptoms at the highest activity level at which you think you could function without significant symptoms, even if you are not actually performing activities at this level. | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 1. | Wh | at is the | highest | level of | activity t | hat you | can perfo | orm with | out signif | icant kn | ee pain? | | |
| | □Very strenuous activities like jumping or pivoting as in basketball or soccer □Strenuous activities like heavy physical work, skiing or tennis □Moderate activities like moderate physical work, running or jogging □Light activities like walking, housework or yard work □Unable to perform any of the above activities due to knee pain | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 2. | Dur | ing the p | past 4 w | eeks, or | since yo | ur injury | , how of | ten have | you had | pain? | | | |
| Nev | er | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 🗖 | 7 | 8 | 9 🗖 | 10 | Constant |
| 3. | If y | ou have | pain, ho | w seven | e is it? | | | | | | | | |
| No | pain | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 □ | 7 | 8 | 9 🗖 | 10 □ | Worst pain imaginable |
| 4. | Dur | ing the <u>r</u> | oast 4 w | <u>eeks</u> , or | since yo | ur injury | , how st | iff or swo | ollen was | your kn | ee? | | |
| | | | □Not : □Mildl □Mod □Very □Extre | at all y erately emely | | | | | | | | | |
| 5. | Wh | at is the | highest | level of | activity y | ou can p | perform v | without s | ignificant | t swelling | g in your | knee? | |
| | Very strenuous activities like jumping or pivoting as in basketball or soccer Strenuous activities like heavy physical work, skiing or tennis Moderate activities like moderate physical work, running or jogging Light activities like walking, housework, or yard work Unable to perform any of the above activities due to knee swelling | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 6. | Dur | ing the <u>r</u> | oast 4 w | <u>eeks</u> , or | since yo | ur injury | , did you | ır knee k | xck or cat | tch? | | | |
| | | | Yes | ۵N | D | | | | | | | | |

7. What is the highest level of activity you can perform without significant giving way in your knee?
Very strenuous activities like jumping or pivoting as in basketball or soccer
Strenuous activities like heavy physical work, skiing or tennis
Moderate activities like moderate physical work, running or jogging
Light activities like walking, housework or yard work
Unable to perform any of the above activities due to giving way of the knee

Page 2 – 2000 IKDC SUBJECTIVE KNEE EVALUATION FORM

SPORTS ACTIVITIES:

8. What is the highest level of activity you can participate in on a regular basis?

Very strenuous activities like jumping or pivoting as in basketball or soccer
 Strenuous activities like heavy physical work, skiing or tennis
 Moderate activities like moderate physical work, running or jogging
 Light activities like walking, housework or yard work
 Unable to perform any of the above activities due to knee

9. How does your knee affect your ability to:

| | | Not difficult | Minimally | Moderately | Extremely | Unable |
|----|------------------------------------|---------------|-----------|------------|-----------|--------|
| | | at all | difficult | Difficult | difficult | to do |
| a. | Go up stairs | | | | | |
| b. | Go down stairs | | | | | |
| с. | Kneel on the front of your knee | | | | | |
| d. | Squat | | | | | |
| e. | Sit with your knee bent | | | | | |
| f. | Rise from a chair | | | | | |
| g. | Run straight ahead | | | | | |
| h. | Jump and land on your involved leg | | | | | |
| i. | Stop and start quickly | | | | | |

FUNCTION:

10. How would you rate the function of your knee on a scale of 0 to 10 with 10 being normal, excellent function and 0 being the inability to perform any of your usual daily activities which may include sports?

FUNCTION PRIOR TO YOUR KNEE INJURY:

| Cannot perform daily activities | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 • | 4 | 5 | 6 🗖 | 7 | 8 | 9 • | 10 □ | No limitation in daily activities |
|------------------------------------|-------|--------|-------|--------|---|---|--------|---|---|--------|---------|---|
| CURRENT FUNCT | ION O | f your | KNEE: | | | | | | | | | |
| Cannot perform daily activities | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | No limitation in daily activities |

APPENDIX B: EFFECT SIZE DATA

TABLE B1. Effect sizes for kinematic step-down data in the ACL-R group between InFOCUS and ExFOCUS conditions ([ExFOCUS-InFOCUS]/pooled standard deviation)

| | d | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
|------------------------------|-------|-------------|-------------|
| Involved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.46 | -1.53 | 0.67 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | -0.56 | -1.63 | 0.58 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | -0.27 | -1.35 | 0.84 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.57 | -1.64 | 0.58 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.76 | -1.83 | 0.42 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.43 | -0.70 | 1.50 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | -0.46 | -1.53 | 0.68 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.30 | -1.38 | 0.81 |

TABLE B2. Effect sizes for kinematic step-down data in the ACL-R group ([post-pre]/pooled standard deviation)

| | | InFOC | US | | ExFOCUS | | |
|------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|-------|---------|-------|--|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper | |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound | |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.11 | -1.16 | 0.94 | 0.04 | -1.06 | 1.12 | |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.14 | -0.92 | 1.18 | -0.17 | -1.25 | 0.93 | |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.54 | -0.56 | 1.57 | -0.52 | -1.59 | 0.63 | |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.14 | -1.18 | 0.92 | -0.22 | -1.29 | 0.89 | |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | 0.42 | -0.71 | 1.49 | -0.37 | -1.44 | 0.76 | |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.34 | -0.78 | 1.41 | 0.06 | -1.03 | 1.15 | |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.17 | -0.93 | 1.25 | 0.44 | -0.69 | 1.51 | |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | 0.14 | -0.96 | 1.23 | 0.13 | -0.97 | 1.21 | |

TABLE B3. Effect sizes for kinetic step-down data in the ACL-R group between InFOCUS and ExFOCUS conditions ([ExFOCUS-InFOCUS]/pooled standard deviation)

| | d | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
|----------------------------|-------|-------------|-------------|
| Involved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | -0.58 | -1.69 | 0.61 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | 0.60 | -0.60 | 1.71 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.10 | -1.18 | 1.00 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | 0.81 | -0.38 | 1.88 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.06 | -1.03 | 1.15 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | 0.78 | -0.40 | 1.85 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.14 | -1.22 | 0.96 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | 0.77 | -0.41 | 1.84 |

Bolded value represents large treatment effect where knee frontal plane moment changed as a result of the ExFOCUS intervention; however, the confidence interval crosses zero.

| | | InFOCU | S | ExFOCUS | | |
|----------------------------|--------|--------|-------|---------|-------|-------|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.27 | -0.84 | 1.35 | -0.64 | -1.71 | 0.52 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -0.54 | -1.61 | 0.61 | 0.61 | -0.54 | 1.68 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | 0.57 | -0.54 | 1.59 | 2.09 | 0.63 | 3.27 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -0.54 | -1.56 | 0.56 | 1.46 | 0.15 | 2.57 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | -2.00* | -3.17 | -0.56 | -1.43* | -2.53 | -0.12 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -1.46* | -2.57 | -0.15 | -0.93 | -2.00 | 0.28 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | 0.97 | -0.24 | 2.05 | 1.80 | 0.40 | 2.94 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -0.94 | -2.02 | 0.27 | -1.85* | -3.00 | -0.45 |

TABLE B4. Effect sizes for kinetic step-down data in the ACL-R group ([post-pre]/pooled standard deviation)

Bolded value represents large treatment effects suggesting that moments decreased in response to the intervention. *represent confidence intervals that do not cross zero.

TABLE B5. Effect sizes for kinematc step-down data in the ACL-R vs. Control group ([control-ACL-R]/pooled standard deviation)

| | InFOCUS | | | ExFOCUS | | |
|------------------------------|---------|-------|-------|---------|-------|-------|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.04 | -1.38 | 1.32 | -0.44 | -1.99 | 1.23 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | -0.34 | -1.67 | 1.05 | -1.70 | -3.23 | 0.28 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.34 | -1.05 | 1.67 | -1.35 | -2.87 | 0.53 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | 0.49 | -0.93 | 1.81 | -0.27 | -1.84 | 1.37 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | 0.38 | -1.02 | 1.70 | -0.30 | -1.86 | 1.35 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.74 | -0.72 | 2.05 | 2.51* | 0.26 | 4.11 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.34 | -1.05 | 1.66 | -0.87 | -2.40 | 0.88 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.52 | -1.84 | 0.90 | -0.16 | -1.74 | 1.46 |

Bolded value represents large treatment effects. Negative values suggest greater rotations in the ACL-R group compared to the control group. *represent confidence intervals that do not cross zero.

| | InFOCUS | | | ExFOCUS | | |
|----------------------------|---------|-------|-------|---------|-------|-------|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.30 | -1.12 | 1.66 | -0.45 | -2.00 | 1.22 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -0.15 | -1.52 | 1.26 | 0.47 | -1.20 | 2.02 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.66 | -1.97 | 0.78 | -0.65 | -2.19 | 1.06 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -0.16 | -1.50 | 1.21 | 3.02 | 0.57 | 4.68 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | -0.14 | -1.48 | 1.23 | -0.05 | -1.64 | 1.56 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -1.58 | -2.92 | 0.06 | -1.69 | -3.22 | 0.28 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.14 | -1.48 | 1.23 | -0.49 | -2.04 | 1.19 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -1.91 | -3.27 | -0.17 | -3.49 | -5.21 | -0.85 |

TABLE B6. Effect sizes for kinetic step-down data in the ACL-R vs Control group ([control-ACL-R]/pooled standard deviation)

Bolded value represents large treatment effects. Negative values suggest larger moments in the ACL-R group compared to the control group. *represent confidence intervals that do not cross zero.

| | d | Lower | Upper Bound |
|------------------------------|-------|--------|-------------|
| | | Bound | |
| Involved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.83 | -30.98 | 5.88 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.16 | -9.02 | 11.68 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.48 | -23.18 | 53.32 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.71 | -18.21 | 4.87 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.75 | -36.48 | 8.68 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | -0.86 | -14.19 | 2.47 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.43 | -30.37 | 63.61 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | 0.18 | -6.39 | 8.61 |

TABLE B7. Effect sizes for kinematic data in the ACL-R group between InFOCUS and ExFOCUS conditions ([ExFOCUS-InFOCUS]/pooled standard deviation)

Bolded value represents large treatment effect suggesting InFOCUS yielded large clinical effect on hip sagittal and frontal plane rotation in the involved and uninvolved limbs, respectively. However, confidence intervals cross zero.

TABLE B8. Effect sizes for kinematic data in the ACL-R group ([post-pre]/pooled standard deviation)

| | InFOCUS | | ExFOCUS | | | |
|------------------------------|---------|--------|---------|-------|--------|-------|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | -0.17 | -14.65 | 10.85 | -0.66 | -28.02 | 8.42 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | 0.12 | -11.78 | 14.52 | 0.05 | -9.70 | 10.56 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | 0.33 | -8.78 | 15.66 | 0.43 | -24.52 | 51.48 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | 0.57 | -5.52 | 16.06 | -0.10 | -12.37 | 10.55 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane rotation | 0.08 | -14.18 | 16.30 | -0.77 | -32.51 | 7.39 |
| Hip frontal plane rotation | -0.44 | -13.85 | 6.23 | -0.45 | -9.85 | 4.53 |
| Knee sagittal plane rotation | -0.35 | -14.90 | 8.06 | 0.54 | -26.18 | 67.26 |
| Knee frontal plane rotation | -0.49 | -12.91 | 5.31 | 0.26 | -5.41 | 8.33 |

| | d | Lower | Upper |
|--------------------------------|-------|-------|-------|
| | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.22 | -0.31 | 0.43 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | 0.39 | -0.22 | 0.40 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | 0.26 | -0.60 | 0.88 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -0.69 | -0.30 | 0.10 |
| Vertical ground reaction force | -0.77 | -0.97 | 0.27 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.39 | -0.36 | 0.64 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -0.73 | -0.32 | 0.10 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | 0.36 | -0.34 | 0.58 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | 0.17 | -0.14 | 0.18 |
| Vertical ground reaction force | 0.82 | -0.15 | 0.69 |

TABLE B9. Effect sizes for kinetic data in the ACL-R group between InFOCUS and ExFOCUS conditions ([ExFOCUS-InFOCUS]/pooled standard deviation)

Bolded value represents large treatment effect where vertical ground reaction force changed as a result of the ExFOCUS intervention; however, the confidence interval crosses zero.

| TABLE B10. Effect sizes for kinetic | c data in the ACL-R | group | ([post-pre]/pooled |
|-------------------------------------|---------------------|-------|--------------------|
| standard deviation) | | | |
| | | | |

| | InFOC | CUS | | ExFOCUS | | |
|--------------------------------|-------|--------|-------|---------|-------|-------|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | 0.46 | -2.73 | 6.07 | -1.32 | -0.47 | 0.07 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | 0.52 | -2.80 | 6.92 | -0.41 | -0.38 | 0.24 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.50 | -25.70 | 10.74 | 0.45 | -0.65 | 1.09 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | 0.53 | -3.28 | 8.30 | 0.13 | -0.26 | 0.30 |
| Vertical ground reaction force | 0.02 | -0.76 | 0.78 | -0.36 | -0.62 | 0.40 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Hip sagittal plane moment | -0.36 | -6.49 | 3.57 | 0.09 | -0.73 | 0.81 |
| Hip frontal plane moment | -0.47 | -2.50 | 1.12 | 0.51 | -0.18 | 0.32 |
| Knee sagittal plane moment | -0.52 | -26.95 | 10.93 | 0.82 | -0.39 | 1.05 |
| Knee frontal plane moment | -0.51 | -4.37 | 1.79 | 0.41 | -0.17 | 0.27 |
| Vertical ground reaction force | -0.29 | -0.32 | 0.20 | -0.13 | -0.71 | 0.61 |

Bolded value represents large treatment effect where knee sagittal plane moment changed as a result of the ExFOCUS intervention; however, the confidence interval crosses zero.

| | d | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
|---------------------|-------|-------------|-------------|
| Involved Limb | | | |
| Single leg hop | -0.03 | -0.35 | 0.33 |
| Crossover hop | 0.27 | -0.63 | 1.01 |
| Triple hop | -0.06 | -0.84 | 0.76 |
| Six-meter timed hop | -0.39 | -0.28 | 0.14 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | |
| Single leg hop | 0.19 | -0.26 | 0.36 |
| Crossover hop | 0.45 | -0.55 | 1.25 |
| Triple hop | 0.23 | -0.66 | 0.98 |
| Six-meter timed hop | -0.27 | -0.21 | 0.13 |
| Vertical Jump | -0.41 | -2.14 | 1.02 |

TABLE B11. Effect sizes for functional performance data in the ACL-R group between InFOCUS and ExFOCUS conditions ([ExFOCUS-InFOCUS]/pooled standard deviation)

TABLE B12. Effect sizes for functional performance data in the ACL-R group ([post-pre]/pooled standard deviation)

| | InFOCUS | | | ExFOCUS | | |
|---------------------|---------|----------------|----------------|---------|----------------|----------------|
| | d | Lower Bound | Upper Bound | d | Lower Bound | Upper Bound |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | |
| Single leg hop | 0.47 | -0.16 | 0.38 | 0.12 | -0.33 | 0.41 |
| Crossover hop | 0.40 | -0.56 | 1.16 | 0.20 | -0.66 | 0.94 |
| Triple hop | 0.10 | -0.78 | 0.92 | -0.14 | -1.00 | 0.80 |
| Six-meter timed hop | 1.40 | 0.04 | 0.46 | 0.39 | -0.14 | 0.28 |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | |
| Single leg hop | 0.54 | -0.18 | 0.48 | 0.22 | -0.26 | 0.38 |
| Crossover hop | 0.42 | -0.62 | 1.32 | 0.19 | -0.71 | 0.99 |
| Triple hop | 0.07 | -0.90 | 1.02 | 0.04 | -0.85 | 0.91 |
| Six-meter timed hop | 0.36 | -0.16 | 0.30 | -0.08 | -0.33 | 0.29 |
| Vertical Jump | 0.24 | -1.56 | 2.36 | 0.18 | -0.94 | 1.28 |

Bolded value represents large treatment effect where six-meter hop time improved as a result of the InFOCUS intervention.

| TABLE B13. Effect sizes for functional performance data in the ACL-R vs. Control |
|--|
| group ([ACL-R-Control]/pooled standard deviation) |

| | InFOCUS | | | ExFOCUS | | | |
|---------------------|---------|-------|-------|---------|-------|-------|--|
| | d | Lower | Upper | d | Lower | Upper | |
| | | Bound | Bound | | Bound | Bound | |
| Involved Limb | | | | | | | |
| Single leg hop | 0.46 | -0.27 | 0.49 | -0.57 | -0.72 | 0.34 | |
| Crossover hop | 0.42 | -1.11 | 1.91 | -0.68 | -2.08 | 0.84 | |
| Triple hop | 0.57 | -1.02 | 1.90 | -1.05 | -2.33 | 0.47 | |
| Six-meter timed hop | -0.32 | -0.55 | 0.39 | 1.35 | -0.04 | 0.50 | |
| Uninvolved Limb | | | | | | | |
| Single leg hop | -0.44 | -0.60 | 0.34 | -0.32 | -0.54 | 0.36 | |
| Crossover hop | -0.63 | -2.26 | 0.98 | -0.39 | -1.87 | 1.13 | |
| Triple hop | -0.68 | -2.30 | 0.92 | -0.80 | -2.04 | 0.68 | |
| Six-meter timed hop | 0.84 | -0.14 | 0.46 | 0.79 | -0.14 | 0.42 | |
| Vertical Jump | 1.08 | -0.76 | 4.02 | 0.57 | -0.99 | 2.09 | |

Bolded values represent large treatment effect; however, the confidence interval crosses zero.